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IN THE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE MIDDLE DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE
NASHVILLE DIVISION

PAUL McQUIDDY, )
)
Movant, )
)
V. ) Case No. 3:16-cv-02820
) Judge Aleta A. Trauger
UNITED STATESOF AMERICA, )
)
Respondent. )
MEMORANDUM

Before the court is the Motion to Vacatet 3side, or Correct Sentence in Accordance
with 28 U.S.C. § 2255 (Doc. No. 1) filed by mowaPaul McQuiddy, seeking to vacate and
reduce the sentence entered upon Md@us 2013 criminal conviction irUnited States v.
Conyers et a). No. 3:09-cr-00240 (M.D. Tenn. Feb. 12)13) (Judgment, Doc. No. 1950),
based ordohnson v. United States35 S. Ct. 2551 (2015). The motion to vacate will be granted
in light of the Suprem Court’s decision itUnited States v. Dayid39 S. Ct. 2319 (2019).

l. PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

On February 4, 2013, the court (Nixon, Sat¢epted McQuiddy’s plea of guilty to seven
charges against him in the multi-count Nintbp8rseding Indictment against numerous co-
defendants. (Crim. Doc. No. 1908.) These chamm@ssisted of (1) five separate charges of
conspiracy to interfere witdommerce by robbery and extori and to commit and threaten
physical violence against another person angbtaperty, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 88 1951 and

2 (“Hobbs Act conspiracy”) (Counts 13, 16, 18, &Wd 41); (2) using and attempting to use

! References to the criminal docket will bafter be designated as “Crim. Doc. No. __.”
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physical force against an individlin retaliation for providingnformation to a law enforcement
officer relating to the commission possible commission of a fededdfense, in violation of 18
U.S.C. 8§ 1513(b)(2) (Count 34); and (3) possessind discharging aréarm during and in
relation to a crime of violence (specificalfgonspiracy to commit &lobbs Act extortion and
robbery”), in violation of18 U.S.C. 88 924(c) and (Zount 31). Accordingo the Petition to
Enter a Plea of Guilty (Crim. Doc. No. 1908) andchasounced in open court at the plea hearing
on February 4, 2013, McQuiddy and the government reached an agreement under Rule
11(c)(1)(C) of the Federal Rules of Criminal &dure for a total prison sentence of 18 years: 8
years concurrently on Counts 1%, 18, 30, 41, and 34, and tstatutory minimum of 10 years
on Count 31, to run consecutively ttee 8 years on the other chargededDoc. No. 5-1 (Plea
Hr'g Tr.), Crim. Doc. No. 1908 (Plea Petition)his term was to béollowed by 5 years of
supervised release.

As indicated in the plea petition and pleearing transcript, Mguiddy was aware that
Count 31 required a mandatory minimum consecutive sentence of 10 years, because a firearm
was discharged during the underlying “crimevadlence.” 18 U.S.C. § 924(c)(1)(A)(iif).The
written plea petition itself does nobntain a waiver of appellate righor of the right to bring a
post-conviction challenge. At the plea hearingnducted before Senior Judge John T. Nixon
(now retired), the Assistant United StateHofney represented tthe court that McQuiddy,
along with the three other co-@eidants who entered pleas the same day, had agreed to waive
their appellate rights. Ehprosecutor stated on the record that the plea agreement with each

defendant included

2 The government did not allege that Maddy discharged the firearm but that
McQuiddy was responsible for tldgscharge as a co-conspiratbayving provided the weapon to
the individual who did discharge iS¢eDoc. No. 5-1, at 49.)



a waiver of appellate rights and pasteiction rights applicable under the plea
agreement as to each of the four defendants. . . .

Regarding sentencing, each defendanawsare that 18 U.S.C. 3742 generally
affords the defendant the right to appeal the sentence imposed. Acknowledging
this, each defendant knowingly waives thghtito appeal the sgence agreed to

in that defendant’s particular plea agment pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil

Procedure 11(c)(1)(C). Each defendardoaknowingly waived their right to

challenge that agreed sente in any collatal attack, including, but not limited

to, a motion brought pursuant to 28 WLS2255 and/or 2241 and/or 18 U.S.C.

3582(c).

(Plea Hr'g Tr., Doc. No. 5-1, at 55-56.) lludge Nixon’s colloquy with each defendant,
however, the defendants confirmed their understanthat they were waiving their right to go
to trial, but they were not astt¢o confirm their undetanding that they wereaiving their right

to bring a collateral chaltge to their sentenceSée idat 60.)

In addition, while two of the other fdmdants’ plea petitions included language
acknowledging the waiver of the rigto appeal or to bring a postnviction collagéral challenge
(seeCrim. Doc. No. 1910, at 4; Crim. Doc. Nt®Q9, at 4), the handwritten “Summary of Plea
Agreement” appended to McQuiddy’s plea fieti contains no reference to waiveseeCrim.
Doc. No. 1908, at 6.)

McQuiddy was sentenced on February 4, 2013 to 18 years in accordance with the
agreement documented in the plea petition. (MErEntry, Crim. Doc. No. 1903.) Judgment was
entered on February 15. 2013. (Crim. Doc. @50.) McQuiddy did not@peal his conviction
or sentence.

On June 27, 2016, McQuiddy filedpso semotion to appoint coums in the criminal
case, asserting that he was entitled to relief uktleted States v. Johnso@35 S. Ct. 2551

(2015), and arguing specifically that conspiraeycommit Hobbs Act robbery does not qualify



as a crime of violence for pawses of 18 U.S.C. § 924(c)BY.he court appointed counsel and
directed the filing of a supplemental brief. Coeiniled his supplementdrief as a Motion to
Vacate, initiating this civil action, rather thankirgy a filing in the criminal case, on October 31,
2016. The Motion expressly incorporatié®e arguments raised in McQuiddyso sefiling,
arguing in particular that thedbbs Act conspiracy convictionewd only qualify as crimes of
violence under the “residual clause” of § 924(c)(3)(B), which is unconstitutional in light of
Johnson (Doc. No. 1.) McQuiddy requested thas mmotion be held in abeyance pending the
Supreme Court’s review @fnited States v. TaylpB14 F.3d 340 (6th Cir. 2016).

The government filed a Response, arguing ¢haMcQuiddy waived his right to bring a
§ 2255 motion; (2) his argument that the so-callsittal clause in 8§ 92d)(3) falls within the
scope ofJohnsonis foreclosed by binding Sixth Cirtyprecedent; (3) conspiracy to commit
Hobbs Act robbery satisfies the elements staof § 924(c)(3)(A); and (4) any reduction in
sentence would violate the terms of the biugdplea agreement under Rdl&(c)(1)(C) of the
Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure and hwitt the agreement, McQuiddy would have been
subject to a “much more onerous” punishment th8ryears, with multiple additional charges
under § 924(c). (Doc. No. 5, at 2.) In his Rephge petitioner argues thany purported waiver
was not knowing and that SuprenCourt precedent requirescategorical approach to the
determination of whether the elements of a orahoffense make it a crime of violence for

purposes of § 924(c)(3). (Doc. No. 8.)

3 The motion is dated June 3, 2016 and, utldemprison mailbox rule, deemed filed on
the day McQuiddy delivered it the proper prisonhauties for forwarding to the district court.
Towns v. United State490 F.3d 468, 469 (6th ICi1999). The government does not contend
that McQuiddy’s motion is untimely.



1. LEGAL FRAMEWORK

A. 28 U.S.C. § 2255

The movant brings this action under B8S.C. § 2255. Section 2255 provides that a
prisoner serving a sentence for violation of a faeriminal law who claims that his sentence
was imposed in violation of the Constitution “may move the court which imposed the sentence to
vacate, set aside or correct gentence.” 28 U.S.C. § 2255(a). In order to obtain relief under 8
2255, a petitioner “must demonstrate the existence of an error of constitutional magnitude which
had a substantial and injurious effect or infloe on the guilty plea or the jury’s verdict.”
Humphress v. United State298 F.3d 855, 858 (6th Cir. 2005) (quoti@gffin v. United States
330 F.3d 733, 736 (6th Cir. 2003)).

A motion under § 2255 is subject to a omaystatute of limitations, running from the
latest of four possible triggeny events, including “the daten which the righ asserted was
initially recognized by the Supreme Court,tifat right has been newly recognized by the
Supreme Court and made retroactively applicableases on collateral review.” 28 U.S.C. §

2255(f)(3).

B.  18U.S.C.§924(c)

Section 924(c) provides enteed penalties for anyone who “uses or carries a firearm, or
who, in furtherance of any such crime, possess$esam,” “during and irrelation to a crime of
violence.” 18 U.S.C. § 924(c)(1)(A). As relevamere, an individual anvicted of a crime of
violence during which a firearm discharged is subject to a ng&atory minimum sentence of ten
years “in addition to the punishmeprovided” for the underlying tne of violence. 18 U.S.C. §
924(c)(1)(A)(iii).

Section 924(c)(3) defines “crime of violsst as “an offense that is a felony” and



(A) has as an element the use, attempisa] or threatenease of physical force
against the person or property of another, or

(B) that by its nature, involves a substahtisk that physical force against the
person or property of another may beedisn the course of committing the
offense.

18 U.S.C. § 924(c)(3). Courtsommonly refer to 8924(c)(3)(A) as the ‘Grce clause” or
“elements clause” and to § 924(c)B)(@s the “residual clause.”

In Johnson v. United Statethe Supreme Court invalidatélte so-called residual clause
of the Armed Career Criminal Act (“ACCA"1,8 U.S.C. § 924(e)(2)(B)(ii), as unconstitutionally
vague under the Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amenddanison 135 S. Ct. 2551, 2563
(2015). Since then, courts and litigants haamtinued to grapple with the full import of
Johnsonboth with respect to how it affects the interpretation of the still-valid parts of the ACCA
and how it pertains to othemilarly worded statutes.

While other circuit courts disagreed, tBxth Circuit had held, in the wake dbhnson
that the § 924(c)(3)’s raduial clause remained vali8ee United States v. Tayl@&14 F.3d 340,
375-76 (6th Cir. 2016)ert. denied138 S. Ct. 1975 (May 14, 2018ghr'g denied 138 S. Ct.
2646 (June 11, 2018). The Supreme Court, however, has now resolved the circuit split, holding
that 8 924(c)(3)’'s residual alise, like that in the ACCASs unconstitutionally vagueJnited
States v. Davisl39 S. Ct. 2319 (2019pavis effectively invalidatedraylor, and it is now clear,
as discussed below, that a conviction for pmagy to commit Hobbs Act robbery cannot be
sustained as a predicate crime of violenceptaposes of a conviction under the residual clause
of 8 924(c)(3)(B). It also does not fall withinetlscope of the elementkause, § 924(c)(3)(A).

1. ANALYSIS
A. Waiver

The government argues that McQuiddy waiwesi ability to challenge his conviction or



sentence as part of his plearegment. At the plea hearingetlgovernment referenced a plea
agreement and represented that four cordifets, including McQuiddy, were waiving their
ability to collaterally challenge their convioti or sentence. As indicated above, however,
McQuiddy was not questioned duogi the plea colloquy regarding ethher he understood that he
was waiving his ability to challenge his coctvdon or sentence as unconstitutional in a § 2255
motion. Further, there was no iten plea agreement, andettwritten plea petition, which
summarizes the agreement, so®t incorporate a waiver.

To be valid, a waiver generally muat,a minimum, be batknowing and voluntarySee
Vowell v. United StatesNo. 17-5405, — F.3d —, 2019 WL 385014#,*4 (6th Cir. July 12,
2019). In this case, there is insufficient evideticat it was either. Ten court concludes that
McQuiddy’s claim is not waive.

B. The Effect of Davis

In Taylor, 814 F.3d at 379, the Sixth Circuit helathhe residual clause of § 924(c)(3),
despite its similarities to thegiglual clause in the ACCA, wa®t unconstitutionally vague. That
holding was abrogated Hyavis in which the Supreme Court held that the residual clause of 8§
924(c)(3) is unconstitutionally vaguPavis, 139 S. Ct. at 2324. In that case, the Fifth Circuit
had held that the defendantenvictions for Hobbs Actobberyqualified as preidate crimes of

violence under the elements clause of 8§ 924(c) but that their conviction for Hobbs Act

4 In Vowell the Sixth Circuit reconfirmed that atjtiener may challengdis sentence as
statutorily excessive based on absequent change in the laayen if he entered into an
otherwise knowing and voluntary waiver of hight to collaterally challenge his sentence
through a 8§ 2255 motion, pursuantUWoited States v. Carutherd58 F.3d 459, 472 (6th Cir.
2006). Vowell 2019 WL 3850144, at *5. More specifically, the court held/owell that an
incorrect designation as a career offender under™ABCA renders a sesice in excess of the
statutory maximum, meaning that sudaims fall within the scope dfaruthersand are non-
waivable.Vowell 2019 WL 3850144, at *5. Because the waivethis case has not been shown
to be knowing and voluntary, the court has no reason to consider wiethell applies.



conspiracy qualified only under the residual clausé 8§ 924(c), which it found to be
unconstitutionally vague. 903 F.3d 483, 48én Cir. 2018) (per curiumyited in Davis 139 S.
Ct. at 2325. The court thefore vacated the § 9&)(1)(A) conviction tlat was predicated upon
Hobbs Act conspiracy. Th8upreme Court affirmedavis 139 S. Ct. at 2336 (“We agree . . .
that § 924(c)(3)(B) is unconstitutionally vague.”).

The government iDavis did not attempt to argue that Hobbs Act conspiracy qualified
under the elements clause as a predicateecofmviolence, and the Supreme Court did not
expressly reach that question. However, it dald that courts musapply the “categorical’
approach, rather than a case-specific approacatietermining whether an offense is a crime of
violence under § 924(clpavis 139 S. Ct. at 2326-32. In light thfat conclusion, the only circuit
court to consider the issue followilravis, United States v. BarretNo. 14-2641-cr, — F.3d —,
2019 WL 4121728 (2d Cir. d4g. 30, 2019), held th&tavis compelled the conclusion that Hobbs
Act conspiracy does not glifg categorically asa crime of violence undéne elements clause of
§ 924(c)(3)(A) either.

In Barrett, the Second Circuit, followingemand for reconsideration afteavis, vacated
the defendant’s 8§ 924(c) conviction “for mgi a firearm in committing Hobbs Act robbery
conspiracy.” The court waslearly reluctant to vacatie conviction but understoddavis to
require it:

We are obliged to vacate Barrett's Count Two conviction bec&eds

precludes us from concludi, as we did in our origat opinion, that Barrett's

Hobbs Act robbery conspiracy crime quakfias a 8 924(c) crime of violence. At

the outset, we note that there can be no question but that the particular Hobbs Act

robbery conspiracy committed by Barreid his co-conspirators was violent,

even murderous. There is also question, however, that, Davis, the Supreme

Court held that a crime could not #entified as a crime of violence under 8

924(c)—even by a trial jury—oa case-specific basis. &ldecision must be made

categorically. In so holding, the Supre@eurt acknowledged that a case-specific
approach to 8§ 924(c), particulatly the statute’sesidual clauseseel8 U.S.C. 8



924(c)(3)(B), would avoid both the SixtAmendment and vagueness concerns

that have doomed other, similarly wert residual clauses. Nevertheless, the

Court held that the text, context, andtbry of 8§ 924(c) could not support such an

approach.

Id. (internal citations omitted).

The court then went on to address 8 924J¢A)3 It had previouslyaffirmed Barrett's
Count Two conviction based, in part, on i@nclusion that “Hobbs Act robbery conspiracy
could be categorically identified as a crimevadlence by reference only to its elements.’at
*2. PostDavis, however, the court recognized that“gtements-based conclusion . . . depended
on both § 924(c)(3)(A) and 8§ 92)(3)(B). We reasoned that where the elements of a
conspiracy’s object crime (heréjobbs Act robbery) establish &s a categorical crime of
violence under 8 924(c)(3)(A), the agreement eléném conspiracy categorically establishes
the ‘substantial riskof violence under § 924(c)(3)(B)Id. Although the Supreme Court did not
address this “hybrid approach,” since the issus m@t presented to it,@hSecond Circuit read
Davis as foreclosing that apprdacinsofar as it depended inrpan 8§ 924(c)(3)(B), which the
Supreme Court had left “nonger valid in any form.’ld. at *3. The court therefore concluded
that the Hobbs Act conspiraayonviction did not fall wihin 8 924(c)(3)(A) eitherAccord
United States v. Simp&14 F.3d 229, 233 (4th iIC2019) (holding, préavis, that conspiracy to
commit Hobbs Act robbery “does not categdticajualify as a crime of violence under the
elements-based categorical approach, as the dJSiaes now concedes,” and that the residual
clause of § 924(c)(3)(B) is uanstitutionally vague, and, theogé, vacating a conviction under
8 924(c)(1) predicated on consmyao commit Hobbs Act robbery).

The Sixth Circuit has not directly addressed the issue, but this court is persuaded that (1)
Davis requires a categorical approach to 8 (8%8)(A) as well as t& 924(c)(3)(B) and (2)

Hobbs Act conspiracy is not tegorically a crime of violencender the elements clause of §
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924(c)(3)(A). UndeDavis § 924(c)(3)(B) is unmanstitutionally vague. As a result, McQuiddy’s
conviction under 18 U.S.C. § 924(c)(1) must be vacated.

Under the circumstances, however, the cauriot free to simply sever 10 years from
McQuiddy’s sentence. It is clear that his sentemas part of a package deal, as the government
argues, and that a full resentary is required in this casBee Davis139 S. Ct. at 2336 (noting
that, “when a defendant’s § 924(c) convictionnealidated, courts of appls ‘routinely’ vacate
the defendant’s entire sentenceabincounts ‘so that the districburt may increase the sentence
for any remaining counts’ if sudm increase is warranted” (quotibgan v. United Stated37
S. Ct. 1170, 1176 (2017)).

V. CONCLUSION

Basedon Johnsonand Davis, McQuiddy’s Motion to Vacate will be granted, and the
court will enter a separate order in the criatioase, No. 3:09-cr-00240, vacating the conviction
on Count 31 of the Ninth Superseding Indictmardcating the sentence in its entirety, and
scheduling a resentencing.

An appropriate Order is filed herewith.

] g —

ALETA A. TRAUGER
United States District udge




